THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

APR 26 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

2016-UP-091 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 24, 2016)
Case No. 2010-CP-23-1646

Appellate Case No. 2016-000749

Kyle Pertuis, Respondent,

v.

Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., Beachfront
Foods, Inc., Lake Point Restaurants, Inc.,
Mark Hammond and Larkin Hammond, Petitioners.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

John S. Nichols, SC Bar # 4210
BLUESTEIN NICHOLS THOMPSON & DELGADO
Post Office Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
(803) 779-8995 (facsimile)
jsnichols@bntdlaw.com
Attorney for Petitioners Mark and Larkin Hammond

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in summarily denying Petitioners' request to supplement the Record on Appeal?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the issues Petitioners argued were not preserved for appeal?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding a "*de facto*" partnership in this case, particularly where the arguments and rulings dealt with "amalgamation," not "*de facto*" partnership?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's finding of an amalgamated business located in Greenville, South Carolina?
- V. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's award of a 7.2% interest in Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., to Respondent?
- VI. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's finding of a "zero" value for Beachfront Foods, Inc.?
- VII. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's finding of oppression of Respondent as a "minority shareholder"?
- VIII. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's award to Respondent of \$99,117 for alleged unpaid "shareholder distributions"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 1, 2010, Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., brought an action seeking an order declaring that any disclosure of financial records to Respondent would be subject to a confidentiality agreement. The circuit court entered a protective order and Respondent received the information he requested.

The case changed into a minority shareholder oppression claim Respondent filed on September 6, 2012, and was tried in that context after the parties were realigned by agreement. Respondent sought damages for alleged minority shareholder oppression and an order requiring the Respondent to purchase the value of his shares in each corporation.

A non-jury trial was held May 28 and 29, 2013. In lieu of closing arguments the court directed the parties to submit their proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law by June 7, 2013. Petitioners filed their motion for directed verdict on May 31, 2013, because the court did not entertain motions on the record. Petitioners also filed their proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law as directed on June 7, 2013.

On June 18, 2013, the trial court notified counsel for the parties of its decision adopting Respondent's submission. The court found an amalgamation of companies, found there was oppression of Respondent, awarded Respondent a 7.2% interest in Front Roe, and awarded Respondent \$99,116.00 in distributions that were purportedly unpaid. The court entered the order July 3, 2013. On July 19, 2013, Petitioners filed a joint motion to alter or amend the judgment. On September 9, 2013, the trial court entered an order correcting mathematical errors in the original order but otherwise adhering to the prior judgment.

Petitioners pursued a joint appeal. The Court of Appeals held oral argument on

October 14, 2015. At argument the panel questioned whether Petitioners had raised the issues to the trial court and gotten rulings thereon. During responsive argument Respondent's counsel conceded that the Petitioners had raised all issues and the trial court had ruled upon those issues. Respondent also made no argument to the contrary in his brief.

The next day, October 15, 2015, Petitioners moved the Court of Appeals for leave to file a supplemental record on appeal demonstrating that the issues had been raised and ruled upon below. There had been no question regarding error preservation during briefing. Respondent did not file any opposition to the motion.

On February 24, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion. *Pertuis v. Front Roe Restaurants, Inc.*, 2016-UP-091 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 24, 2016). The Court first declined the motion to supplement the record on appeal. The Court added that even if it considered the arguments preserved it would affirm. However, the Court then found each argument not preserved based upon the record it had before it (*i.e.*, without the supplemental material).

On March 10, 2016, Petitioners sought reconsideration. Respondent filed no return in opposition. On March 31, 2016, the Court of Appeals denied rehearing. Petitioners then sought review by this Court and on March 27, 2017, the Court granted the petition and issued the writ.

FACTS

This is an action in equity. *Ballard v. Roberson*, 399 S.C. 588, 733 S.E.2d 107 (2012). The appellate court reviews factual findings and legal conclusions in an equitable action *de novo*. *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 715 S.E.2d 348 (Ct. App. 2011). The following testimony and evidence is relevant to the issues in this case.

Kyle Pertuis (Respondent). Respondent has lived in Greenville, South Carolina, for 8 years. (R.p.34, ll.1-4). In the spring 2000, Mr. and Mrs. Pertuis were living in Arkansas. (R.p.34, ll.14-15). Mr. and Mrs. Hammond approached Respondent about a business opportunity in the Carolinas. (R.p.34, ll.17-25). They owned "Larkins on the Lake," a restaurant on Lake Lure in North Carolina, through Lake Point. (R.p.35, ll.6-10; p.42, ll.6-7). The Hammonds wanted Respondent to be the "general manager" to help with the day to day operations of the restaurant. (R.p.35, l. 21 - p.36, l. 4). Mr. Hammond had an extensive background in operations and Mrs. Hammond had some experience from a marketing standpoint. (R.p.72, ll.13-18). One of the deciding factors for Respondent to take the job was a "vesting schedule" so that he could move into a position for growth and eventual ownership. (R.p.37, ll.14-19; p.90, ll.14-25). The Hammonds wanted to increase his interest over time to give him the incentive to stay there longer. (R.p.91, ll.3-6).

The terms of the employment included a "base plus bonus [compensation] package." (R.p.37, ll 20-23; p.89, ll.5-10). The initial conversation was a vesting schedule that would accrue over five years to a maximum of ten percent ownership. (R.p.37, l. 24 - p.38, l. 1; p.89, ll.11-12, 21-24). Respondent did not recall signing any vesting schedules. (R.p.90, ll.5-13; p.91, ll.12-13).

Mr. and Mrs. Pertuis moved from Arkansas in June 2000. (R.p.36, ll.5-12). The Hammonds helped them with relocation assistance. (R.p.37, l. 23). The financial performance of the restaurant improved during Respondent's tenure. (R.p.36, l. 24-p.37, l. 6). The Hammonds were pleased with his performance. (R.p.37, ll.7-9).

In 2001, the Hammonds formed a new corporation, Beachfront Foods, to acquire

another restaurant, "Malarkie's." (R.p.38, l. 19 - p.39, l. 6). At that point Respondent's role had expanded into a "director of operations" over both entities. (R.p.39, ll.7-11). The name "Malarkie's" was derived from the initials of the first names of the participants, Mark and Larkin Hammond and Kyle Pertuis (M, L & K). (R.p.40, ll.1-7). They upgraded the restaurant, reopened and did fairly well.(R.p.40, ll.8-13). The parties' understood that Respondent would have a vesting schedule with Beachfront that would be concurrent with the vesting schedule for Lake Point and would reach 10 percent in the same five-year period. (R.p.40, ll.14-24; p.91, ll.7-17; p. 91, l. 18 - p. 92, l. 3; p.100, ll.15-21). Despite not having a writing setting forth the vesting schedule, eventually Respondent reached the vesting level for Lake Point and for Beachfront. (R.p.89, ll.13-15; p.102, ll.5-24). Both are North Carolina corporations. (R.p.40, l. 25 - p.41, l. 1).

In 2004, Mr. Hammond had been in Greenville, South Carolina, regarding a location that was on the market. (R.p.44, ll.9-12). Mr. and Mrs. Hammond came to South Carolina again in 2005 to "check it out a couple of times" and then Respondent came down with them "a time or two, before it was a done deal." (R.p.44, ll.15-17). Respondent was unfamiliar with the terms of the purchase, although the seller "raised the price at the last minute." (R.p.44, ll.19-25). The Hammonds then started a new corporation, "Front Roe," through which they took over the location. (R.p.45, ll.1-8).

Respondent was assigned to manage Front Roe.(R.p.46, ll.2-9). The Hammonds asked him about his expectations for compensation and his comment "the best I can remember to them was I want ownership in this one up to the 10 percent. Similar to the last two." (R.p.46, ll.2-9). Because the restaurant was larger they agreed that Respondent would

move to Greenville. (R.p.46, ll.18-22; p.47, ll.14-17). Respondent stated, “the conversation around the ownership was, you know, I’d like to acquire 10 percent in this as well.” (R.p.46, ll.24-25). They memorialized the agreement with a letter. (R.p.47, ll.1-5). The Hammonds indicated they were looking at “creative ways” for Respondent to obtain an ownership interest in Front Roe. (R.p.97, ll.7-15; p.508).

The vesting schedule for Front Roe was different from Lake Point or Beachfront. (R.p.100, ll.22-23). The agreement required the business to achieve a certain profit margin. (R.p.100, l. 24 - p. 101, l. 7). They created a document that contained the vesting schedule based on profitability. (R.p.101, l. 8 - p.102, l. 4; p.102, l. 25 - p.103, l. 21). Respondent’s ownership interest would increase as the business met certain profit margins. (R.p.103, ll.22-24). Respondent agreed to this arrangement. (R.p.103, l. 25 - p.104, l. 1).

In 2007, the Hammonds sold Malarkie’s and acquired a new restaurant, “Larkins Carolina Grill,” in Columbus, North Carolina. (R.p.41, ll.5-16). The restaurant initially lost money from startup costs but has since performed better. (R.p.43, ll.9-23).

By 2007, Respondent was managing all three locations. (R.p.47, l. 18 - p.48, l. 3). He traveled to all three locations four to six days a week. (R.p.48, ll.12-17). He was in contact with Mr. and Mrs. Hammond every day during this period. (R.p.48, l. 18 - p.49, l. 2). Each restaurant had a manager and Respondent was the point person for them. (R.p.72, ll.19-23). The Hammonds gave Respondent the title of “managing partner” of all locations during this period. (R.p.72, l. 24 - p.73, l. 5).

Larkins on the Lake was in rental property and in 2007 the property’s owner let the Hammonds know that she wanted to sell the real estate. (R.p.42, ll.6-15; p.97, l. 16 - p.98,

l. 1). The Hammonds ultimately purchased the property through a new LLC, of which Respondent was not a member. (R.p.42, ll.18-23). Respondent knew nothing about the terms, only that the Hammonds were buying it. (R.p.42, l. 24 - p.43, l. 2). Respondent stated that the Hammonds did tell him they were going to buy the land and he responded, "okay, you're going to buy it" but voiced no other concerns. (R.p.43, ll.3-8). He did not recall asking to participate in the transaction stating "it was just kind of one of those things that [Mr. Hammond] had moved forward with." (R.p.98, ll.12-16). He doubted he told Mr. Hammond he wanted "a piece of that pie." (R.p.98, ll.17-20). The Hammonds paid \$1.7 million for the land and had to personally guarantee all of the loans. (R.p.98, l. 21 - p.99, l. 5). Respondent stated "I don't deal with real estate." (R.p.99, l. 22).

From 2005 through 2009 the restaurants did very well and Respondent was working towards an ownership interest. (R.p.49, ll.3-22). He agreed the tax returns for 2005 and 2006 did not list him as an owner of Front Roe. (R.p.119, l. 23 - p.120, l. 4). The first time he realized he had achieved an interest in Front Roe was in 2007, when the K-1 business tax return listed him as a 1% owner. (R.p.49, l. 23 - p.50, l. 1; p.120, ll.5-10). There was never any other kind of written agreement or confirmation of ownership. (R.p.50, ll.2-7). In 2008, Respondent received a similar K-1 form. (R.p.50, ll.8-10). His interest was listed at 1% for 2009 as well.(R.p.120, ll.11-15; p.812).

The tax document generated in 2009 listed Respondent as receiving "eight percent of net shareholder distributions." (R.p.121, ll.5-14). He agreed that at the time he owned 10% in both Lake Point and Beachfront and at least 1% of Front Roe. (R.p.121, l. 20 - p.122, l. 1). He disagreed, however, that the figures for shareholder distributions reflected what he

received. (R.p.122, l. 10 - p.124, l. 10). He agreed that the amounts reflected distributions of 10% for Lake Point and Beachfront and 1% for Front Roe. (R.p.124, ll.3-10; p. 125, ll.16-22). He never received any distributions. (R.p.126, ll.6-7).

Respondent identified the tax returns for Beachfront (R.p.705) and Lake Point. (R.p.587). (R.p.126, ll.15-22). The K-1 forms reflected that Respondent was a 10% owner of each business from 2005. (R.p.127, ll.2-6).

Front Roe never achieved the profit margin necessary to get Respondent to 10% ownership. (R.p.104, l. 2 - p.105, l. 7; p.127, ll.10-25). Respondent agreed that if he had thought Front Roe had done so he would have said something to Mr. Hammond in 2008. (R.p.105, l. 9 - p.106, l. 4). Respondent maintained he did not understand how he would achieve a 10% ownership in Front Roe, although he never told Mr. Hammond that he did not understand the arrangement. (R.p.106, l. 22 - p.108, l. 18).

By 2008, Respondent was bothered by the fact that he did not have a clear understanding about what it was going to take for him to vest in an increased ownership in Front Roe. (R.p.50, l. 20 - p.51, l. 3). Respondent did not communicate to the Hammonds any concerns about ownership, even during their annual meetings to discuss future business plans. (R.p.51, ll.4-15). Respondent had questions about formalizing their agreement with the vesting schedule for Front Roe. (R.p.53, ll.7-18; p.55, ll.3-7; pp.423-425).

In the summer 2008, Mr. Hammond sent Respondent an email that set forth "some of the options with, like, keep current arrangement with 10 percent of Front Roe this year. You will own approximately \$250,000 in net street equity on the businesses. You will also receive shareholder distributions of approximately 30,000 in 2008 from this ownership."

(R.p.54, ll.17-23; p.104, ll.7-18; pp.511-513). Mr. Hammond did not tell Respondent how much ownership he would have in Front Roe. (R.p.54, l. 24 - p.55, l. 2).

Respondent sent an email to Mr. Hammond requesting clarification as to matters related to shareholder documents and asking “about the things that weren’t included in the original ones of Lake Point and Beachfront and just other things as we started going forward.” (R.p.55, ll.14-22; p.426). Respondent asked about the stock valuation formula and how much he would have to pay to reach 33% interest in the company, but could not recall if there was a response. (R.p.56, ll.4-17).

By the beginning of January 2009 the parties began to discuss in earnest what they needed to do regarding an employment agreement or a shareholder agreement. (R.p.108, l. 19 - p.109, l. 3). The parties met at Sanibel Island, Florida, in February 2009. (R.p.56, ll.18-21; p.109, ll.17-22). Immediately prior to the meeting Mr. Hammond sent Respondent an email on February 20, 2009, in which Mr. Hammond thanked Respondent for working on a partnership agreement, which was the document that had not been finished and formalized. (R.p.56, ll.15-21; p.427).

In the email, Mr. Hammond mentioned forming an “umbrella corporation” or choosing “another means to equalize” Respondent’s ownership interest across the three companies. (R.p.57, ll.3-13). Mr. Hammond also suggested developing a lease between Lake Point and Largo Properties (the company the Hammonds formed to purchase the real estate under Lake Point) to ensure Lake Point’s ability to operate at the location long term. (R.p.58, ll.3-12). The email also suggested dispersing “shareholder distributions on an annual basis according to completed K-1 forms” because the disbursements “weren’t being done that

way” for some unknown reason. (R.p.58, ll.16-24; p.109, l. 14 - p.110, 18; pp.515-516). Mr. Hammond, however, said they needed to get the tax returns done before finalizing the method for Respondent to obtain 33%, and they always sought an extension from April. (R.p.113, l. 17 - p.114, l. 10; p.115, ll.15-24). At no time did Respondent tell Mr. Hammond that they did not have to wait for the returns. (R.p.114, 21 - p. 115, l. 14).

The email also stated, “clean up all ‘due to/from shareholder’ accounts and define treatment of Beachfront sale of Malarkie’s and opening of Carolina Grill as it relates to [Respondent’s] payouts and investment requirements.” (R.p.59, ll.2-7; p.113, ll.12-16). This entry concerned accounts on the books of loans “to and from” but Respondent did not understand them, including entries showing loans to and from him. (R.p.59, ll.9-15).

The email stated that Respondent was “to provide initial draft of employment agreement buy-sale/shareholder agreement” to Mr. and Mrs. Hammond, including “language addressing item 5 consistent with our agreement and discussion from yesterday’s meeting. Anticipate draft documents to be available by April 30th.” (R.p.59, l. 23 - p.60, l. 3). In 2008, Respondent asked a friend in Texas who is a corporate lawyer to prepare a Master Relationship Agreement, which he did. (R.p.60, l. 4 - p.61, l. 6; p.429; p.517). Respondent presented the document to Mr. Hammond in December 2008 and there was one redrafted with some language about “whatever point 5 was.” (R.p.61, ll.7-19). Respondent obtained this document so that he could get the agreement “formalized” and “stop worrying about it.” (R. p.61, l. 21 - p.38, l. 3).

At the end of an email following the February 2009 meeting, Mr. Hammond stated, “if I missed any item from our discussion, please let me know so that I can be sure it’s

addressed.” (R.p.110, l. 23 - p.111, l. 1). Respondent did not recall if there was anything missing or that he sent a followup to this saying “there’s something else in play that we talked about that’s not here.” (R.p.111, ll.1-5).

In April 2009, Mr. Hammond sent an email to Respondent. (R.p.111, ll.11-24; p.539). Although they had discussion about whether they should “wrap all three entities into one,” Respondent agreed this would make it difficult for him to offer ownership opportunities to people he had hired into each entity. (R.p.111, l. 25-p.113, l. 11).

Respondent identified a document he received from Mr. Hammond on June 27, 2009 in response to a request by Respondent about restructuring his compensation package. (R.p.62, ll.5-17; p.66, ll.1-2; p.451). The document stated Respondent had a current annual salary of \$55,000 with a bonus of \$50,000. (R.p.63, ll.1-4). His shareholder distribution was “8 percent of net SD.” (R.p.63, ll.5-7). The document also had three options that combined different salaries, bonuses and distribution percentages, and included a one-time transfer of a \$12,000 boat. (R.p.63, l. 9 - p.64, l. 13).

Respondent agreed that the boat was originally used to transport customers to and from the property on Lake Lure. (R.p.128, l. 22 - p.129, l. 9). The insurer for the company suggested they remove the boat from the company name and Respondent stated, “if I was going to have it in my name, I was going to own it.” (R.p.129, ll.10-19). Respondent thereafter insured the boat in his name. (R.p.129, ll.20-22; pp.547-549). The address on the policy, however, was “Larkins on the Lake.” (R.p.130, ll.4-6). Lake Point paid the premium. (R.p.130, ll.7-21). He agreed that he did not list \$12,000 income on his 2008 tax returns for the boat. (R.p.130, l. 22 - p.131, l. 2).

The proposal stated "if we go with Option A, we'll extend the original timeline on the River [Front Roe] into 2009 if the final numbers from 2008 fall short of what you need under the original agreement to get you to the 10 percent ownership across the board." (R.p.64, ll.17-21; p.116, ll.12-21). This would have extended the agreement into 2009 for Respondent to obtain 10% "across the board." (R.p.117, ll.3-18; p.128, ll.4-12). Respondent already owned 10% of Lake Point and Beachfront. (R.p.116, ll.19-24). He did not, however, own 10% in Front Roe. (R.p.116, l. 25 - p.117, l. 2; p.128, ll.13-15).

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