THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

2016-UP-091 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed Feb. 24, 2016)
Case No. 2010-CP-23-1346

Appellate Case No. 2016-000749

RECEIVED
JUN 07 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Kyle Pertuis,.....Respondent,

v.

Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., Beachfront
Foods, Inc., Lake Point Restaurants, Inc.,
Mark Hammond, Larkin Hammond,.....Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert C. Wilson, Jr., SC Bar No. 6178
201 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 242-9488
(864) 242-6251 (fax)
Email: trigor527@aol.com

Attorney for Respondent Kyle Pertuis

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

ARGUMENTS

1. **That Petitioners may have failed to preserve issues for argument on appeal matters not, because the Court of Appeals nevertheless addressed and denied all issues asserted by Petitioners on their appeal in the Court of Appeals, on factual grounds.**

Petitioners assert that the Court of Appeals erred in failing to permit Petitioners to supplement the Record in this case. Because Petitioners lacked support in the Record, Petitioners, in the view of the Court of Appeals, lacked factual support for the issues which Petitioners asserted as a basis for reversal of the Trial Court's judgment. Petitioners assert, first, that the Court of Appeals unfairly and harshly applied the provisions of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, ("SCACR"), in finding that Petitioners had failed to properly preserve issues on appeal. Respondent asserts that the Court of Appeals, however, correctly articulated in detail the failure of Petitioners to preserve issues for appeal, as provided under SCACR and under applicable case law.

As secondary support of their assertion that the Court of Appeals unreasonably applied the Appellate Court Rules, Petitioners point to a misstatement by counsel for Respondents. Counsel for Respondents, during oral argument, incorrectly recalled that Petitioners had met the requirements of issue preservation, under SCACR.. Petitioners now attempt to employ counsel's misstatement as a fulcrum to leverage their appeal, in a case which is now six years old, into further review and litigation.

Respondent notes that, despite the Court of Appeals holding that Petitioners may have failed to preserve issues, the Court of Appeals nevertheless proceeded to address each of the issues raised on appeal by Petitioners, on the facts. A pragmatist might, therefore, suggest that the asserted error of the Court of Appeals in applying SCACR as an alternative basis for denying

Petitioners' appeal, is nugatory.

II. The Lower Courts correctly held that Larkins Restaurant Group was an amalgamated group of business entities, operated as a “de facto partnership, from the Larkins Restaurant Group’s “nerve center” in Greenville, South Carolina.

a. Amalgamation.

During the trial of this case, Pertuis testified that the corporations share personnel, (R.p. 52, ll. 1-20), that he served as General Managing Partner for all of the corporations, (R.p. 47, ll. 6-21), that he had been relocated to Greenville, from which he managed all of the restaurants. (R.p. 47-6-21). Pertuis testified that he went to the various locations 4-6 days a week from Greenville and that he had contact with Mark Hammond everyday. (R.p. 48, ll. 4-22).

Mark Hammond testified that the business plans for the Larkins Restaurant Group were prepared together, (R.p. 305, ll. 11- p. 306, l. 14). Hammond conceded that Pertuis' title was “Managing General Partner,” verifying that the Larkins Restaurant Group was being operated as a partnership with a General Managing Partner. (R.p. 326, ll. 1-8; cf. Pltf. Exh. 8, R. P. 509).

The Lower Court applied the holding in *Magnolia North Property Owners' Assn., Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc.*, 725 SE 2d 112, 397 SC 348 (Ct.App. 2012), to amalgamate the corporate entities for purposes of resolving the intra-corporate shareholder dispute presented in this case. The Record shows that the corporate entities have identical ownership, the corporate entities have been operated as a unified business operation. Judicial amalgamation, for the purpose of adjudicating the common issues of this case, offers judicial economy in the resolution of identical claims arising from identical factual scenarios.

Pertuis, therefore, argues that *Magnolia, supra*, and its antecedent cases, should apply to

this case, first for judicial economy, but also to afford parties in parallel, intra-corporate shareholder disputes an opportunity to litigate, in a single case, their differences. A single venue for the resolution of amalgamated corporate issues offers fair play and economy to the disputants.

Indeed Pertuis argues that *Magnolia* should apply to open the same door to single-venue, intra-corporate litigation disputes as *Magnolia* offers to parties tortiously damaged by multiple entities which have been fractured to avoid common liability. Pertuis respectfully submits that it is a logical extension of the *ratio decidendi* of *Magnolia*, to apply *Magnolia* to this case. Pertuis cites the following from *Magnolia* to support his assertion that he should be allowed to litigate his claims in a single action:

The evidence revealed an amalgamation of corporate interests, entities, and activities so as to blur the legal distinction between the corporations and their activities.

Magnolia, supra, citing *Mid-South Mgmt. Co. v. Sherwood Dev. Corp.*, 374 SC 588, 649SE2nd 135 (Ct.App. 2007).

The record of this case reflects a blurring of the legal distinction between the members of Larkins Restaurant Group sufficient to subject the members to Pertuis' claims, in one action in South Carolina.

Based on the foregoing, Pertuis submits that the application of *Magnolia, supra*, to amalgamate the members of Larkins Restaurant Group, for purposes of adjudicating these identical intra-corporate shareholder disputes in a single action, is correct.

b. Severance for valuation.

Mark Hammond and Larkins Restaurant Group find irreconcilable conflict between the amalgamation of the corporate entities, for adjudication, and the severance of the entities for separate, individual economic valuation. Mark Hammond and Larkins Restaurant Group argue

that the Lower Court determined that it could afford the aggrieved minority shareholder a forum in which to fully litigate his claims against all parties, by amalgamating the corporate entities. Accordingly, Mark Hammond and Larkins Restaurant Group argue, Pertuis must live with a consolidated value for the corporate entities as one business unit.

The Lower Court, however, permitted the valuation experts, Dr. Alford for Pertuis and Mr. Manios for Mark Hammond and Larkins Restaurant Group, to break down the amalgamated entities for evaluation purposes. Pertuis argues that it is entirely defensible to assert that, once amalgamated for adjudication, the entities may be separately and individually evaluated, because the valuation process is a subsequent, separate and distinct phase of equitably establishing the buyout price for the parties, or “fair value.”

Dr. Alford addressed the separate evaluation issue in his report:

1. There is disagreement as to ownership percentages;
2. The entities are in different locations and are quite diverse in terms of revenues and profitability;
3. One of the entities is leased from a related entity owned by Mr. and Mrs. Hammond.

(Pltf. Exh. 9, p. 2, R.p. 464).

Based on his observations, Dr. Alford proceeded with a separate valuation for each of the entities, seeking to reach a “fair price” for the corporations which were otherwise united for litigation purposes.

The valuation of Mr. Manios, who was the expert for Mark Hammond and Larkins Restaurant Group, did not disagree with Dr. Alford’s valuation of the members of Larkins Restaurant Group as separate entities.

Pertuis submits that amalgamation for consolidating shareholder claims in litigation does

not dictate amalgamation for evaluation. Rather, Pertuis supports Dr. Alford's observations that the unique economic features of the amalgamated entities and the dispute about ownership percentages requires the evaluator to look at the "fair value" of the entities separately.

III. The Lower Courts properly found that the "nerve center" of the amalgamated "Larkins Restaurant Group" was, and is, Greenville, South Carolina.

From the myriad of jurisdictional challenges in State and Federal Courts, there has evolved a judicial doctrine which holds that the "nerve center" of a business entity is the location whence its officers direct, control, and coordinate the business activities of the entity.

Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 US 77, 130 S.Ct. 1181, 175 LED 2nd 1029 (2010). In this case, there is abundant evidence that, during all times pertinent to this case, the "Larkins Restaurant Group" was directed, controlled, and coordinated by Pertuis from the business location of Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., one of the members of "Larkins Restaurant Group," which is located on S. Main Street, Greenville, SC.

During the trial of this case, Pertuis testified that the corporations share personnel, (R.p. 52, l. 1), that he served as General Managing Partner for all of the corporations, (R.p. 47, ll. 18-p. 48, l. 5), and that he had been relocated to Greenville, from which he managed all of the restaurants. (R.p. 47, ll. 6-21). Pertuis testified that he went to the various locations 4-6 days a week from Greenville. (R.p. 48, ll. 6-17).

Mark Hammond testified Pertuis' title was "Managing General Partner," verifying that the Larkins Restaurant Group was being operated as a partnership with a *General Managing Partner located in Greenville, SC*. (R.p. 326, ll. 6-8; cf. Def. Exh. 5, R. p. 509).

The preponderance of the facts adduced in this case confirms that the "nerve center"

which was the principal place of the combined businesses entities operating as “Larkins Restaurant Group” was Greenville, South Carolina. *Hertz, supra.*

IV. The Lower Courts correctly applied equitable principles to enforce a minority shareholder’s rights to increased shares of stock, based on an offer and acceptance and part performance by the parties.

By his email dated June 27, 2009, Mark Hammond presented Pertuis with several contractual options for Pertuis’ future employment and shareholder vesting with Larkins on the River. (Pltf. Exh. 5, R.p. 452). Pertuis responded to Hammond’s June 27th email with a proposed “NEW PLAN” for Pertuis’ employment and shareholder vesting in FRR. (Pltf. Exh. 6, R.pp. 454, 455). Pertuis’ email presented a chart with a 10% shareholder distribution for him, conveyance of a boat to Pertuis, and new disability insurance. (Pltf. Exh. 6, R.pp. 454, 455).

Further, Pertuis’ email stated:

SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTIONS

If I did not achieve 10% ownership in 2008, we will extend the current program through 2009 in order to equalize current ownership across the board. *Distributions going forward after the close of 2009 will be based on 10% ownership.*

(Pltf. Exh. 6; R.p. 454)(Emphasis Added).

By his email dated June 30, 2009, (Pltf. Exh. 7, R.p. 456), Mark Hammond accepted Pertuis’ offer:

Thanks, Kyle. We’re looking forward to the next 10 years also. *I’ll get these details to Curt to incorporate into the employment agreement and ask him about the timeline as well.* (Emphasis added).

In his courtroom testimony, Mark Hammond conceded that he had agreed to Pertuis’ counterproposal (R.p. 337, l. 2-p. 338, l. 10).

By any reasonable interpretation, the exchange set forth above, (“email agreement”), presents the classic offer and acceptance which creates an enforceable contractual agreement. Performance of the terms of the email agreement set forth above followed, while Pertuis and Mark Hammond waited for the formal documents from corporate counsel, Curt Stodghill. Indeed, the boat was conveyed to Pertuis and his salary was increased to match the employment agreement. (R.p. 70, ll. 1-3; Rp. 337, l. 2-p. 338, l. 10). Pertuis pressed through the summer of 2009, and into the fall, for the documentation of the email agreement promised to him by Mark Hammond. (R.p.,71, ll. 14-20). Pertuis testified:

My frustration continued to build. It just seemed like there was one thing after another. These documents weren’t being done. It had been months now since the agreement. It just, to me, continued to say nothing’s going to happen. We’re just going to keep playing this game. (R.p. 71, ll. 14-20).

One might fairly argue that Mark Hammond was not going to allow Pertuis to have documentation that he was to become a 10% of Larkins on the River Restaurant. Throughout this period, Pertuis was a minority shareholder in the Larkins Restaurant Group to whom Mark Hammond, as the majority shareholder, owed corporate fiduciary duties of, *inter alia*, complete honesty and fair dealing.

Pertuis’ frustration with the lack of documentation for his achieving 10% ownership in Larkins on the River Restaurant was based on history. Earlier, there had been a document which set the level of performance of Larkins on the River Restaurant which would trigger vesting of an additional 9% shareholder ownership in Pertuis. Unhappily, the original written document has disappeared. Mark Hammond, throughout this matter, advised Pertuis that Larkins on the River Restaurant had not yet reached the goal line for Pertuis’ vesting to occur. Yet, under Pertuis’ management, Larkins on the River Restaurant had gone from gross revenues of \$1,000,000 in

2005 to \$3,500,000 in 2009. (R.p. 50, ll. 11-19). Yet, Mark Hammond claimed that the restaurant had not performed well enough to trigger vesting for Pertuis. Somehow, the goal line was being moved to prevent the vesting of 10% ownership in Pertuis. (R.p. 311, l. 10-p. 312, l. 5). Pertuis argues that Mark Hammond was doing a “bait and switch” on Pertuis to keep Pertuis employed while not giving Pertuis 10% ownership in Larkins on the River Restaurant, as promised. In the corporate context, Mark Hammond had breached his fiduciary duty to honor his contractual obligation to convey 10% ownership to Pertuis, as demonstrated by the email agreement set out above.

The Trial Court, however, determined to apply equitable apportionment of Pertuis’ vesting claim. Larkins on the River Restaurant had realized \$361,498 in net profits in 2008. (Def’t. Exh. 31D, R.p. 832). Mark Hammond testified that the threshold figure for vesting was \$500,000. (R.p. 251, ll. 10-18). But, because Mark Hammond had materially breached his fiduciary duties to Pertuis, by “bait and switch” and by outright breach of the email agreement set forth above, the Lower Court, in its equitable power, determined that the damages sustained by Pertuis justified an award of 7.2% interest in Larkins on the River Restaurant.

The Lower Court employed equitable principles articulated in *Wilkie v. Philadelphia Life Ins. Co.*, 197 SE 375, 187 SC 382 (1938):

Equity regards and treats that as done which ought to be done, we note that this doctrine applies in those cases only where the party seeking to invoke it has established a clear obligation based upon a valuable consideration that another do some act which he has failed to perform.

Wilkie, supra, 187 SC at 394.

The foregoing equitable maxim was derived from an extensive extract cited in *Wilkie* by the Master in Equity, Richland County, from Volume 1, *Pomeroy’s Equity Jurisprudence*, Fourth

Edition, Section 364. The extensive quotation³ included the proposition that the maxim applied not only “to **express executory contracts**, and to those dispositions of property which give rise to an equitable conversion...” The *Wilkie* case was founded on the application of the equitable maxim to effect equitable performance of an express executory contract, an insurance policy in *Wilkie*; just so, the Trial Court determined to effect the email agreement by which Pertuis was to receive 10% shareholder interest in Larkins on the River Restaurant because the email contract was also an express executory contract.

The objection of Mark Hammond and the Larkins Restaurant Group to the Trial Court’s application of *Wilkie* is misplaced for the following reasons:

1. Hammond’s breach of his fiduciary duties to Pertuis amounts, under the email agreement which was supported by valuable consideration, to constructive fraud, for which equitable relief is appropriate;
2. In his Initial Brief, Hammond concedes that *Wilkie* should be applied to correct constructive fraud by employing a constructive trust;
3. The Trial Court and the Court of Appeals have not re-written the parties’ contract; the email agreement established a contract for which performance by a fiduciary was required, and for the breach of which application of equitable principles is appropriate.
4. Hammond incorrectly characterizes the *Wilkie* case as inapposite for express executory contracts though it was thus employed by the Master of Equity, Richland County, with the approval of the SC Supreme Court;
5. Hammond incorrectly argues for a restrictive interpretation of the scope of application of the equitable maxim.

In *Wilkie*, the Lower Court found an apt precedent for authority to remedy Mark Hammond’s breach of the email agreement which had promised that Pertuis would enjoy 10% ownership in

³The Supreme Court approved the findings and conclusions of the Master in Equity, Richland County, in *Wilkie*, including the citation and discussion from *Pomeroy*.

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